
Agenda for a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel 
to be held on Wednesday, 8 March 2017 at 4.30 pm in 
Committee Room 1 - City Hall, Bradford
Members of the Committee – Councillors

CONSERVATIVE LABOUR LIBERAL DEMOCRAT

D Smith Thirkill
Engel
Tait

N Pollard

Alternates:

CONSERVATIVE LABOUR LIBERAL DEMOCRAT

M Pollard Nazir
Shaheen
Shafiq

R Sunderland

NON-VOTING CO-OPTED MEMBERS:
Chair of the Children in Care Council
Ali Jan Haider Bradford District Clinical Commissioning Group
Inspector Kevin Taylor West Yorkshire Police
Yasmin Umarji Bradford Education

Notes:
 This agenda can be made available in Braille, large print or tape format on request by 

contacting the Agenda contact shown below.
 The taking of photographs, filming and sound recording of the meeting is allowed except if 

Councillors vote to exclude the public to discuss confidential matters covered by Schedule 12A 
of the Local Government Act 1972. Recording activity should be respectful to the conduct of 
the meeting and behaviour that disrupts the meeting (such as oral commentary) will not be 
permitted. Anyone attending the meeting who wishes to record or film the meeting's 
proceedings is advised to liaise with the Agenda Contact who will provide guidance and ensure 
that any necessary arrangements are in place. Those present who are invited to make spoken 
contributions to the meeting should be aware that they may be filmed or sound recorded.

 If any further information is required about any item on this agenda, please contact the officer 
named at the foot of that agenda item.

From: To:
Parveen Akhtar
City Solicitor
Agenda Contact: Sheila Farnhill
Phone: 01274 432268
E-Mail: sheila.farnhill@bradford.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



A. PROCEDURAL ITEMS

1.  ALTERNATE MEMBERS  (Standing Order 34)

The City Solicitor will report the names of alternate Members who are 
attending the meeting in place of appointed Members.  

(Sheila Farnhill – 01274 432268)

2.  DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

(Members Code of Conduct - Part 4A of the Constitution)

To receive disclosures of interests from members and co-opted 
members on matters to be considered at the meeting. The disclosure 
must include the nature of the interest.

An interest must also be disclosed in the meeting when it becomes 
apparent to the member during the meeting.

Notes:

(1) Members may remain in the meeting and take part fully in 
discussion and voting unless the interest is a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or an interest which the Member feels would 
call into question their compliance with the wider principles set 
out in the Code of Conduct.  Disclosable pecuniary interests 
relate to the Member concerned or their spouse/partner.

(2) Members in arrears of Council Tax by more than two months 
must not vote in decisions on, or which might affect, budget 
calculations, and must disclose at the meeting that this 
restriction applies to them.  A failure to comply with these 
requirements is a criminal offence under section 106 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992.  

(3) Members are also welcome to disclose interests which are not 
disclosable pecuniary interests but which they consider should 
be made in the interest of clarity.

(4) Officers must disclose interests in accordance with Council 
Standing Order 44.

(Sheila Farnhill – 01274 432268)



3.  MINUTES

Recommended –

That the minutes of the meetings held on 9 November 2016 and 11 
January 2017 be signed as a correct record (previously 
circulated).

(Sheila Farnhill – 01274 432268)

4.  INSPECTION OF REPORTS AND BACKGROUND PAPERS

(Access to Information Procedure Rules – Part 3B of the Constitution)

Reports and background papers for agenda items may be inspected by 
contacting the person shown after each agenda item.  Certain reports 
and background papers may be restricted.  

Any request to remove the restriction on a report or background paper 
should be made to the relevant Strategic Director or Assistant Director 
whose name is shown on the front page of the report.  

If that request is refused, there is a right of appeal to this meeting.  

Please contact the officer shown below in advance of the meeting if 
you wish to appeal.  

(Sheila Farnhill - 01274 432268)

B.  BUSINESS ITEMS

5.  RE-THINKING SOCIAL CARE INNOVATION FUND BID

The Deputy Director (Children’s Social Care) will present a report   
(Document “L”) in relation to the award of £3.2 million further to 
Bradford’s successful bid to the Department for Education Re-thinking 
Social Care Innovation Fund and links with the existing ‘Journey to 
Excellence’ Programme, a key aim of which is to reduce the number of 
Looked After Children in the Bradford district.

The funding covers a two year period and is expected to facilitate the 
Authority in reinventing its care provision for adolescent Looked After 
Children. The programme is planned to begin on 1 April 2017.

Members are asked to consider whether they require an update to be 
submitted to the Panel once the programme has been fully established.

1 - 4



Recommended –

That the award of £3.2 million from the Department for 
Education’s Re-thinking Social Care Innovation Fund be noted.

(Jim Hopkinson – 01274 432904)

6.  IMPROVING SUPPORT FOR YOUNG PEOPLE IN CARE

A report will be submitted by the Deputy Director (Children’s Social 
Care) (Document “M”) in relation to a review of the support for young 
people in care/care leavers undertaken by members of Bradford 
Council’s Future Leaders Programme 2016.

A document which sets out the findings and recommendations arising 
from the review is appended to the report for Members’ consideration.

The views of the Panel are requested.

Recommended –

That the findings and recommendations set out in the document 
‘Improving the Support for Young People in Care/Care Leavers’ 
(Appendix to Document “M”) be adopted.

(Mustansir Butt – 01274 432574)
(Tina Butler – 01274 437963)

5 - 22

7.  WORK PLAN 2016/17

The Panel’s Work Plan for 2016/17 is submitted for consideration   
(Document “N”).

(Jim Hopkinson – 01274 432904)

23 - 24

THIS AGENDA AND ACCOMPANYING DOCUMENTS HAVE BEEN PRODUCED, WHEREVER POSSIBLE, ON RECYCLED PAPER



Report of the Deputy Director (Children’s Social Care) 
to the meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel to be 
held on 8th March 2017

L
Subject:  

DfE Re-thinking Social Care Innovation Fund

Summary statement:

This report outlines Bradford’s £3.2 million innovation fund and its linkages with our 
existing Journey to Excellence Programme.

Jim Hopkinson
Deputy Director
(Children’s Social Care)

 Portfolio:  

 Children’s Services

Report Contact:  Jim Hopkinson
Phone: (01274) 432904
E-mail: jim.hopkinson@bradford.gov.uk

 Overview & Scrutiny Area: 

 Children’s Services

Page 1

Agenda Item 5/



1.   SUMMARY

This report outlines the plans following the award of the Department for Education 
(DfE) Re-thinking Social Care Innovation Fund.

2.   BACKGROUND

2.1.  There are currently more than 900 looked-after children in Bradford.  Many are in 
settled and stable environments, but too many are not. Currently, 85 are cared for 
outside our district and too many experience placement breakdowns as part of their 
journey through care. Long term stability has yet to be achieved for approximately 
29.8% of the cohort and three or more placement moves have been experienced by 
9.5% of the cohort. At least 100 young people are not attending school full-time. 
The persistent absence rate from schools for Bradford’s LAC children is 19.9%.  
Many of these issues are particularly prevalent for those becoming Looked After as 
adolescents.

2.2 There is evidence that this is a particular issue for Bradford children who have a set 
of complex and interdependent emotional, social and cognitive needs which are 
sometimes neglected in favour of crisis care. These issues are strongly linked with 
poorer than average outcomes in education, employment and health, costing the 
public purse millions of pounds each year in crisis care.

2.3 The Bradford Council Plan  2016-2020 outlines the six key priorities being worked 
on in order to “create as good a quality of life as possible for the people and 
communities of the Bradford District”. The Children’s Social Care Innovation 
Programme clearly aligns with these priorities in its determination to ensure:

 Better skills, more good jobs and a growing economy 
 A great start and good schools for all our children
 Safe, clean and active communities
 Decent homes that people can afford to live in 
 Better health, better lives
 A well-run council, using all our resources to deliver our priorities.

3.        REPORT ISSUES

3.1 As a consequence of the needs of our Looked After children, particularly those 
becoming Looked After as adolescents, a proposal was submitted to the 
Department for Education Re-thinking Social Care Innovation Fund which has 
subsequently been granted.

3.2 £3.2 million has been awarded over two years for Bradford to reinvent its Care 
Provision for adolescent Looked After children. The model will be established based 
on the North Yorkshire No Wrong Door programme which has received national 
recognition for the proven impact it has had on the looked after children in their 
district. It is hoped that the scaling up of this programme and the reshaping to fit the 
demographics of the Bradford context will lead to similar outcomes.

Page 2



3.3 CBMDC’s award also incorporates the Mockingbird project, developed in the USA 
by The Mockingbird Society, an alternative method of delivering foster care with the 
potential to improve placement stability, safety and permanency for children and 
young people in care and to improve support for, and retention of, foster carers.

3.4 The third element of the successful bid is to undertake Multi-agency, cross-
discipline training in Signs of Safety and P.A.C.E. (Playfulness, Acceptance, 
Curiosity, Empathy) which will significantly support the work of the Hub Teams in 
each of the new settings.

3.5 The Innovation Programme closely links to the identified priorities and commitments 
of the Crisis Care Concordat action plan for Bradford, Airedale and Craven. This 
concordat provides a framework for the improvement and development of mental 
health services for people in crisis in the district. The Innovation Programme’s 
planned outcomes will further strengthen the impact of the concordat joint 
commitments.

3.6 There is also funding in the Innovation Fund to create an apprentice post to join the 
leaving care service to promote pathways to further training or employment. We 
hope that this post will be filled by a care leaver.

3.7 The Innovation Programme compliments the Journey to Excellence programme 
with elements including Signs of Safety, the modelling of children’s homes to create 
smaller and more therapeutic opportunities, the creation of a transition team for 
disabled children and better out of hours / rapid response services.

3.8 A key aim of Journey to Excellence is the ambition to reduce the number of Looked 
after Children in Bradford. Measured in rates per ten thousand, Bradford currently 
sits above the National average for looked after children (Bradford 64, National 61) 
but below the Core City average of 77. The cost of LAC to Bradford in 2015/16 was 
£40.7k per year per child, totalling £35.6m.

3.9 If between the Journey to Excellence Programme and using the Innovation Fund to 
develop a version of No Wrong Door we were able to reduce the rate of looked after 
children to that of the National rate per ten thousand, this would reduce the cost to 
CBMDC by approximately £5m.

3.10 The existing Journey to Excellence Programme Board will be revised and expanded 
to become the Programme Board that oversees the Innovation Fund. North 
Yorkshire Children’s Services who pioneered this approach will be board memebrs 
alongside the DfE. A research partner will be appointed to consultation with DfE to 
evaluate the progress and cost effectiveness of the programme.

3.11 Suggestions for a programme names are welcomed

3.12 The start date for the programme is planned to be 1st April 2017.

4.        OPTIONS

           No further information.

5.        CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

          
Page 3



6.       RECOMMENDATIONS

6.1    That the Corporate Parenting Panel note the award of the Innovation Fund and 
consider requesting an update once the programme has been fully established.

 
7. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

           None.

8. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS

           None.

9.        APPENDICES

           None.

Page 4



Report of the Deputy Director of Children’s Social Care  
to the meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel to be 
held on Wednesday 8 March 2017.

M
Subject:  

Improving the Support for Young People in Care – Our Role in Corporate Parenting.

Summary statement:

The attached draft report contains the findings and recommendations from the 
Review.

Jim Hopkinson
Deputy Director 
(Children’s Social Care)

Portfolio:  

Children’s Services
Report Contacts:  
Mustansir Butt – Overview and Scrutiny 
Lead
Phone: (01274) 432574
E-mail: 
mustansir.butt@bradford.gov.gov.uk

Tina Butler – Self Care and Prevention 
Programme Prevention Lead
Phone: (01274) 437963
E-mail: tina.butler@bradford.gov.uk

Overview & Scrutiny Area: 
Children’s Services

Page 5

Agenda Item 6/

mailto:mustansir.butt@bradford.gov.gov.uk
mailto:tina.butler@bradford.gov.uk


1. SUMMARY

1.1 Bradford Councils Future Leaders Programme 2016, was designed to contribute to      
the Council’s talent management approach. It also forms part of a wider strategy 
that seeks to embed leadership skills, mindsets and behaviours across the 
organisation.  

1.2 We, as part of Bradford Councils Future Leaders Programme, expressed an interest 
to work with the Children’s Services Department.  

1.3 We were asked by the Strategic Director for Children’s Services, to review into 
improving the support that is being provided for Looked After Children, across the 
District.

1.4 The draft report is attached as Appendix 1.

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 The key aims of this review included:

 How do we support young children in care?
 What is our understanding?
 What is the current landscape?
 What do we currently deliver and commission?

3. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

3.1 Senior Council Officers, Councillors and Looked After Children were engaged with 
as part of this review and the consultations highlighted a number of key findings 
and recommendations.  A common theme that was clearly visible throughout our 
discussions was the need for there to be a better understanding of Bradford 
Council, in its role as a Corporate Parent. Subsequently, recommendations were 
made in the following areas:

 Developing a multi-agency approach to supporting Looked After Children;
 Creating a robust and clear Communications Plan, which also focuses on our role 

as a Corporate Parent;
 Working more closely with the Children in Care Council, in further improve the 

support provided;
 All Council Departments engaging more with Looked After Children;
 Councillor induction training to include expectations around the role of being a 

Corporate Parent;
 Providing greater opportunities to Looked After Children through Bradford Councils 

apprenticeship scheme.

4. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL

There are no financial issues arising from this report. 
Page 6



5. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES

Improving the support for young people in care and our role in Corporate Parenting 
is key priority for Bradford Council.

6. LEGAL APPRAISAL

There are no legal issues arising from this report. 

7. OTHER IMPLICATIONS

7.1 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY

Looked After Children are one of the protected characteristics under the 2010 
Equality Act.   

7.2     SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

There are no sustainability implications arising from this review.  

7.2     GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS

There are no greenhouse gas emissions impacts arsing from this review.  

7.3     COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

There will be some Community Safety implications, for Looked After Children.  

7.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT

None.

7.6     TRADE UNION

There are no Trade Union Implications.   

7.7      WARD IMPLICATIONS

There are Looked After Children across the District, therefore wards will be 
affected.

7.8 AREA COMMITTEE ACTION PLAN IMPLICATIONS
(for reports to Area Committees only)

Not applicable.

Page 7



8. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS

There are no, not for publication documents.   

9. OPTIONS

In considering how to progress this issue the Corporate Parenting Panel may wish 
to:

 Adopt or amend the findings and recommendations contained within the draft 
report;

 Forward their recommendations to the Executive, Council and / or other 
appropriate bodies/Committees, such as the Children’s Trust Board.

10. RECOMMENDATIONS

10.1 The view of the Corporate Parenting Panel are requested in relation to the findings 
and recommendations contained in the Draft Report.

10.2 That the Corporate Parenting Panel adopt the findings and recommendations 
contained within the draft Report.

11. APPENDICES

Appendix 1 – Draft Report – Improving the Support for Young People in Care/Care 
Leavers  

12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

 The Council Plan.
 The District Plan.

Page 8



APPENDIX 1

City of Bradford Metropolitan 
District Council

Improving the support for young 
people in care/care leavers

Our role in Corporate Parenting

Future Leaders Programme 2016 -
Mustansir Butt, Tina Butler, Noreen Akhtar, 
Ishaq Shafiq and Anisah Naz
10/5/2016

Page 9



1

Content

Section Page Number

Section One 2

Introduction

Section Two 4

Setting the Scene

Section Three 7

Key Findings 

Section Four 8

Concluding Remarks

Section Five 9

Summary of Recommendations

Appendices

Appendix 1 – Terms of Reference.

Appendix 2 – Service Context

Section One

Page 10



2

Introduction

Background

Bradford Councils Future Leaders Programme 2016, was designed to contribute to the 
Council’s talent management approach. It also forms part of a wider strategy that seeks to 
embed leadership skills, mindsets and behaviours across the organisation.  

We, as part of Bradford Councils Future Leaders Programme, are five members of the team, 
who expressed a wish to work with Children’s Services Department.  This includes receiving 
individual mentoring from the Senior Leadership Team.

A challenge was set by Michael Jameson, around Looked After Children;

 How do we support young children in care?

 What is our understanding; what’s the current landscape?

 What do we currently deliver and commission? 

We have called ourselves, “Michael’s Challenge Team."

Areas Explored 

Following this, a desktop exercise was undertaken to start scoping in relation improving the 
support for children and young people in care, in seeing the local and national landscape. 

Listed below are the key areas that we as a team were keen to explore as part of this task.

 What support is available?
 What are your priorities for looked after children?
 What's your understanding of corporate parenting and what do you see your role as 

being?
 What do you see as the challenges, barriers, solutions and opportunities for your 

service, for doing things differently? 
 If your child or other family member had to access care services, what would you 

want to see and experience?
 Today you will receive a 12 year old in your care – where do you see them in six 

years’ time?
 As part of our scoping exercise, which local authorities / or organisations would you 

suggest we contact, to understand more about children in care?
 We’d like to set up a small focus group with C&YP – is this a good idea and if so, will 

you help us to broker conversations with key people we need to talk to?

Who we have spoken to: 

Page 11



3

The Children in Care Council.

As part of this task we have also engaged with key officers and councillors and they include:

 Michael Jameson: Strategic Director Children’s Services 

 Jim Hopkinson: Deputy Director Children’s Specialist Services 

 Jenny Cryer:  Assistant Director Children’s  Performance, Commissioning and 

Partnerships 

 Helen Serlin: Team Manager, Leaving Care 

 Mick Nolan: Coordinator of Bradford’s Children In Care Council and Participation

 David Byrom: Head of Service, Children’s Services

 Di Watherston: Head of Service, (Social Work), Children’s Services

 Andrew Burns:  Business Development Manager Sport & Culture

 Cllr Val Slater:  Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder;

 Cllr Carol Thirkill: Chair of Corporate Parenting Panel

We have also had conversations with the following West Yorkshire Authorities:

 Calderdale;

 Leeds

Section Two

Page 12



4

Setting the Scene

The vision for the Bradford district which both the Council's Children's Services and the 
Children's Trust share, is:

Our children and young people are the future of Bradford. We want them to grow up in a 
Family Friendly City where every child, young person and family is safe and well.  We want 
them to realise their full potential, have high aspirations for themselves and their 
neighbourhoods and to become adults who help to drive the prosperity of our District. 

Bradford’s Children, Young People and Families Plan sets out the priorities for children, 
young people and families; how we plan to achieve these, who is responsible, and what 
success will look like.

 Priority 1: Ensuring that our children start school ready to learn;
 Priority 2: Accelerating education attainment and achievement;
 Priority 3: Ensuring our children  and young people are ready for life and work;
 Priority 4: Safeguarding the most vulnerable and providing early support to families;
 Priority 5: Reducing health and social inequalities, including tackling child poverty, 

reducing obesity and improving oral health;
 Priority 6: Listening to the voice of children, young people and families and working 

with them to shape services and promote active citizenship.

Bradford has five key District priorities which are “owned” by different strategic partnership 
groups in the District. It has been developed alongside the District Plan which looks at the 
priorities for all areas including for children.  

 Better Skills, More and Better Jobs and a Growing Economy
 Great Start and a Good School for all Our Children
 Better Health, Better Lives
 Safe Clean and Active Communities
 Decent Homes that People Can Afford to Live in

A number of clear targets have been set within the local looked after children and care 
leavers strategy. These cover:

 Improve permanency for children through adoption and special guardianship orders
 Improve outcomes for looked after children and young people through improving 

placement stability;
 Improve the health and wellbeing of children and young people being looked after;
 Ensure looked after children and care leavers are safe in their home and in their 

community;
 Improve education and enjoyment outcomes for looked after children;

Page 13



5

 Improve positive contribution outcomes for looked after children. Make sure all 
looked after children are listened to so their views can help plan what we do and 
make it better;

 Support and develop our Children in Care Council;
 Strengthen the corporate parenting role;
 Improve access to work, education and training and ensure young people who leave 

care have access to a safe place to live.

The number of Children and Young People in Care is 922 and the age ranges from birth 
to 18+ years old. There are 451 females and 471 males.

There are approximately 428 Children and Young People in Fostering placements within 
the District and there are 59 children being looked after by another Local Authority.

Table 1 – Number of Looked After Children, by age and ethnicity.

Age

0 – less than 1
                                                                                
                                                                    51

01 – 04 147
05 – 09 187
10 – 15 367
16 – 17 163
18+ and in Community Home 7

Ethnicity
White British 576
White Other 33
Gypsy/Roma 24
Asian/British Asian – Bangladeshi 6
Information Not Yet Obtained 16
Other Ethnic Group 11
Mixed – Other 19
White - Eastern European 7
Asian/British Asian – Pakistani 71
Mixed - White/Black Caribbean 31
Traveller of Irish Heritage 4
Mixed - White/Asian 85
Mixed - White/Black African 10
Black/Black British – Caribbean 2
Black/Black British – African 17
Asian/British Asian – Indian 3
Asian/British Asian – Other 4
Black/Black British – Other 2
Refused 1

Page 14



6

Who looks after our Looked After Children:

392 Our Foster Carers

217 Friends and Family

91 Placed with Parents

58 Our Residential Care

83 External Residential/Foster Care

Others

(Adoption orders, hospital, secure etc)

Statistics as of December 2016.

Page 15



7

Section Three

Key Findings 

This section presents the findings of this working group, into improving the support for 
children and young people in care and care leavers.

Following engagement with key stakeholders, a number of key findings and gaps were 
identified, which included:

Key Finding 1

Comparative work undertaken also identified that Leeds City Council has a multi-agency 
LAP, using a multi agency approach with Looked After Children.  This has proved to be very 
successful as key agencies formed part of the approach and services appear more co-
ordinated, thus addressing the needs of Looked After Children more effectively.  

Identified Gap

There does not appear to be a multi-agency LAP partnership approach in Bradford, hence 
there appears to be a gap in Bradford Council.

Recommendation

To develop a multi agency approach to work with Looked After Children, which would 
improve the coordination and delivery of services and support to Looked After Children.  
The multi agency partnership should be accountable to Bradford Council’s Corporate 
Parenting Board. Representation would be expected from Leisure and Cultural Services, 
Third Sector partners, including key representation from the businesses Community. Other 
key stakeholders will be identified as the project progresses. 

Key Finding 2

With regards to communication, messages are delivered through the Children in Care 
Council; however there is no overall communications plan which could be used to deliver 
key messages in relation to Looked After Children.

Identified Gap

There appears to be no overall Communications Plan in place to not only deliver key 
messages in relation to Looked After Children but also to provide Opportunities to raise 
awareness, promote and buy in regarding the Corporate Parenting role, especially in 
expanding this across Council and Stakeholders.

Recommendation

A development of a robust communications plan which ensures that Looked After 
Children/leaving care are given specific consideration within existing plans around priorities 
and development of services for children and young people, for example the Children, 

Page 16



8

Young People and Families plan) and that key organisations are held to account in relation 
to equality of access for Looked After Children.

Key Finding 3

During the information gathering process it became apparent that the offer to Looked After 
Children in terms of Corporate Parenting support was not clear. There also appears to be 
opportunities to look at developing raising awareness sessions with Councillors in terms of 
fulfilling the Corporate Parenting role.

There was consensus amongst Senior Councillors, Council Officers and Looked After 
Children, about the need to strengthen this area further, by ensuring that within Bradford 
Councils Report template; a further heading be included to be called, “Implications for 
Corporate Parenting”.  This would further reinforce the importance of Corporate Parenting, 
whilst also demonstrating that this is a cross-cutting issue.

Identified Gap

Opportunities to raise awareness, promote and buy in regarding the Corporate Parenting 
role, especially in expanding this across the Council and key stakeholders.

Recommendations

There is a need to communicate a clearer understanding of what the role is of the Corporate 
Parent, who these are and the responsibilities surrounding this. There is opportunity to 
enhance the role of the Corporate Parent and we would seek to embed the role wider, and 
would like to pilot an initiative with Future Leaders, in taking a mentoring role with Looked 
After Children.

Council Management Team will clarify with each Council Department, their role as a 
Corporate Parent. We will ask each department to run an annual event for Looked After 
Children.  Each Council Department will be responsible to design and publicise what their 
event is and the dates of each event should be coordinated so there is an even spread over 
the year.

It is recommended that all elected members receive as part of their member introduction 
training sessions that there is inclusion of the expectations around the role of being a 
Corporate Parent, focusing specifically on accountability and responsibility.  This should also 
be extended to Council Staff.

It is recommended that a new section be included in Bradford Councils Report template 
called, “Implications for Corporate Parenting”.

Key Finding 4

Discussions with Looked After Children  indicated  that they are offered free tickets/offers 
and  they felt that ‘this is good, but that there is a flaw and that this can fall short as some 
families may not be able to get involved due to cost and need to be bespoke for each young 
person and as a family.’ 

Page 17



9

Identified Gap

The need to encourage Looked After Children to make the most of the cultural offer and 
developing  systems to ensure that the services available to young people meet their needs 
and are accessible. 

Recommendation

Working collaboratively, alongside representatives from the Children in Care Council, the 
new cohort of Future Leaders will work with a number of key partners in the District to 
develop a cultural offer to our Looked After Children. It is anticipated that they will develop 
the scheme and in term will aim to develop a discreet swipe card/potentially linked with an 
app, for discounts or free.  This will include retail and leisure outlets.

Key Finding 5

Dialogue with Officers and Councillors revealed that more could be done, in terms of 
developing and promoting the cultural offer for Looked after Children. Bradford Council has 
many facilities such as swimming pools, theatres and museums; where access could be 
made available to Looked After Children free of charge and to include businesses.

Identified Gap

The cultural offer, or lack of; that is currently available across the District for Looked After 
Children.

 We undertook some comparative work relating to the cultural offer within 
neighbouring authorities and below are the key points. It is clear that there are 
differing offers: 

- Bradford Council are currently piloting an initiative, that started in September, of 
initially 60 membership cards, for free access for care leavers for gym, swimming 
and fitness classes. Passport to Leisure passes are also available for half price 
access for younger children. This is in the early pilot stage and at the last count, 
approximately 30 care leavers had signed up. A number of those had not 
attended a gym/swim/class before

- Calderdale Council offer passport to leisure and MAX cards that are  given to 
carers and special guardians that enables them to get discounts in certain places, 
eg Eureka, bowling, free/discounts and recreational offers

- Leeds Council offer Looked After Children and care leavers, free access to 
swimming pools and gyms through Leeds City Council Sport & Active Lifestyles

Recommendation

It is recommended that a separate piece of work be undertaken to explore the costs 
associated with providing all Looked After Children free access and free Passport to Leisure 
cards and to make use of facilities at the disposal of the Council; swimming pools, theatres 

Page 18



10

and  museums. This would ensure opportunities for young people to use these facilities, this 
creating more social, cultural and learning opportunities.

Key Finding 6

Further discussion with Council officers and Councillors highlighted that there are not 
enough apprenticeship opportunities for Looked After Children from Bradford Council’s 
apprentice scheme.

Identified Gap

Places on Bradford Councils apprenticeship scheme are not currently targeted to Looked 
After Children.

Recommendation

We recommend that Bradford Council prioritises places on the Councils apprentice schemes 
to Looked After Children (and to include ‘professional’ shadowing opportunities, similar to 
takeover challenge day but more regularly and consistently).

Key Finding 7

During the information gathering stage, it became clear that there needed to be greater 
clarity in relation to what is in place for Young People who are leaving Care Leavers.  
Moreover, in our role as Corporate Parent, it is crucial that we know once Young People 
leave the care of the Council, that they are correctly signposted to organisations and 
services that will continue to assist them in their life development. 

Identified Gap

Not signposting and supporting Young People, once they have left Bradford Councils Care.

Recommendation

To talk to care leavers before they have left responsibility of the Local Authority in more 
detail as to what level of signposting/support they would/or would not like to receive, in 
terms of the Council tracking their progress to help fulfil our Corporate Parenting role.

Page 19



11

Section Four

Concluding Remarks 

Providing support, guidance and care to Looked After Children in the District by Bradford 
Council, is complex and one that requires a multi-faceted approach.  It was clear from our 
information gathering, that the commitment from Bradford Council Children’s Services Staff 
and Bradford Councillors was exceptional.

It has been clear from the information gathered, that whilst there are good practices that 
exist to support young children in care, it is also clear that more can be done. Moreover, we 
have seen a commitment to ensuring children and young people in care do receive the 
highest possible care. 

Members of the Children in Care Council felt that Looked After Children should have similar 
opportunities and positive life experiences as all children. They said that they “don’t want to 
be identified as kids in care.” The Children in Care Council said that they all want young 
people in the District, to be well rounded, resilient and leading citizens, equipped with the 
skills and tools to be what they aspire to be. 

Members of the Children in Care Council told us they do not feel that they currently have 
the same opportunities as young people who are not in care. They feel children in care 
should have similar opportunities.” 

As key stakeholders, we are seeking to continue to work inclusively and collaboratively with 
members of the Children in Care Council to further co-create, develop and shape further, an 
area of work. This supports and encourages an ethos of working with the voices of children 
and young people. This is our commitment beyond this report. 

Bradford Council needs to fulfil our role as a Corporate Parent, from the point at which 
children and young people come into our care to not just when they leave care, but also 
after care. As a Corporate Parent, we need to be treating Looked after Children, as if they 
were our own children and in the words of one of our young people, “we want someone to 
make sure we are doing okay.”

Next Steps

In relation to the next steps and progressing foreward with this work, it is vital that the 
momentum is not lost and that an action plan be developed which sets out how the 
recommendations for this review will be implemented and taken foreward.  The action plan 
will also include areas of accountability and timescales for delivery.

The draft report will also be considered by Bradford Councils Corporate Parenting Panel, on 
Wednesday 8 March 2017.

Page 20



12

Section Five

Summary of Recommendations 

The recommendations set out below have come from the desk top research, discussions 
with the Children and Care Council, Bradford Council Children Service’s Officers, Councillors 
and comparative work with the other West Yorkshire Authorities.

Recommendation 1

To develop a multi agency approach to work with Looked After Children, which would 
improve the co-ordination and delivery of services and support to young people in care.  The 
multi agency partnership should be accountable to Bradford Council’s Corporate Parenting 
Board. Representation would be expected from Leisure and Cultural Services, Voluntary and 
Community Sector Agencies as well as key representation from the businesses Community. 
Other key stakeholders will be identified as the project progresses. 

Recommendation 2

A development of a robust communications plan which ensures that Children in 
care/leaving care are given specific consideration within existing plans around priorities and 
development of services for Looked After Children, for example the Children, Young People 
and Families plan) and that key organisations are held to account in relation to equality of 
access for children in care.

Recommendation 3

There is a need to communicate a clearer understanding of what the role is of the Corporate 
Parent, who these are and the responsibilities surrounding this. There is opportunity to 
enhance the role of the Corporate Parent, we would seek to embed the role wider, and 
would like to pilot an initiative with Future Leaders, in taking a mentoring role with young 
people in care.

Recommendation 4

Working collaboratively, alongside representatives from the Children in Care Council, the 
new cohort of Future Leaders will work with a number of key partners in the District to 
develop a cultural offer to our Looked After Children. They will develop the scheme and will 
then aim to develop a discreet swipe card/potentially linked with an app, for discounts or 
free.  This will include retail and leisure outlets.

Recommendation 5

Council Management Team will clarify with each Council Department, their role is as a 
Corporate Parent. We will ask each department to run an annual event for Looked After 
Children.  Each Council Department will be responsible to design and publicise what their 

Page 21



13

event is and the dates of each event should be coordinated so there is an even spread over 
the year.

Recommendation 6

It is recommended that all elected members receive as part of their member introduction 
training sessions that there is inclusion of the expectations around the role of being a 
Corporate Parent, focusing specifically on accountability and responsibility.  This should also 
be extended to Council staff. 

Recommendation 7

It is recommended that a new section be included in Bradford Councils Report template 
called, “Implications for Corporate Parenting”.

Recommendation 8

It is recommended that a separate piece of work be undertaken to explore the costs 
associated with providing all Looked After Children free access and free Passport to Leisure 
cards and to make use of facilities at the disposal of the Council such as swimming pools, 
theatres and museums. This would allow young people to use these facilities, this creating 
more social, cultural and learning opportunities.

Recommendation 9

We recommend that Bradford Council prioritises places on the Councils apprentice schemes 
to Looked After Children (and to include ‘professional’ shadowing opportunities, similar to 
takeover challenge day but more regularly and consistently).

Recommendation 10 

To talk to care leavers before they have left responsibility of the Local Authority in more 
detail as to what level of signposting/support they would/or would not like to receive, in 
terms of the Council tracking their progress to help fulfil our Corporate Parenting role.

Recommendation 11

That an action plan be developed which sets out how the recommendations for this review 
will be implemented, including areas of responsibility and timescales for delivery.  Progress 
against the action plan should be presented to the Corporate Parenting Panel in six months.

Page 22



Document N
Corporate Parenting Panel – 2016/17

Conservative Labour Lib Dem
Cllr Dale Smith Cllr Carol Thirkill (Chair) Cllr Nicola Pollard

Cllr Sinead Engel (Dep Chair)
Cllr  Angela Tait

Alternates Alternates Alternates
Cllr Mike Pollard Cllr  Sarfraz Nazir Cllr Rachel Sunderland

Cllr  Fozia Shaheen
Cllr Mohammed Shafiq

Non-voting Co-opted Members
Inspector Kevin Taylor West Yorkshire Police, Partnerships
Yasmin Umarji Senior Primary Partnership Manager, Education
Ali Jan Haider Director of Strategy, Bradford District Clinical Commissioning Group
The Chair of the Children in Care Council

Corporate Parenting Panel 
Date/Venue

Report/Author Deadline for Reports to 
Secretariat

13th July 2016

4.30 pm – 6.00 pm

Venue : Committee Room 1

 Appointment of Co-opted Members
 Work Plan
 Adoption Service, including Regionalisation of 

adoption – Mary Brudenell

1st  July 2016

7th September 2016

4.30 pm – 6.00 pm

Venue : Committee Room 3

 Work Plan
 Complaints – Irina Arcas 24th August 2016

9th November 2016

4.30 pm – 6.00 pm

Venue : Committee Room 3

 Work Plan
 Residential Review Update – David Byrom/Liz Perry
 Update on Regionalisation of the Adoption Service 

(to include information in respect of resource allocation 
and the position in respect of Special Guardianship 
Orders)- Mary Brudenell

27th October 2016

11th January 2017

4.30 pm – 6.00 pm

Venue : Committee Room 1

 Work Plan
 Educational Outcomes for LAC and update on the 

Virtual School – Ken Poucher
 Independent Reviewing  Officer (IRO)Service Update 

report – Imran Cheema
 (Reg 44) and Member visits to Residential Homes – 

Suzanne Lythgow
 CSE report – arrangements by the Council and its 

partners to tackle CSE ( referred by Corporate O&S 
Committee 6.10.16) – Sue Tinnion/Jill Hudson

23rd December 2016

8th March 2017

4.30 pm – 6.00 pm

Venue : Committee Room 1

 Work Plan
 Review of the Exit Interview Process – Rachel 

Curtis/Carly Turpin
 Journey to Excellence – Progress Report – Jim 

Hopkinson
 Innovation Fund Bid – Jim Hopkinson
 Future Leaders – Tina Butler

23rd February 2017

26th April 2017

4.30 pm – 6.00 pm

Venue : Committee Room 3

 Work Plan
 Emotional & Mental Wellbeing of LAC  –Progress 

reports, including information on the allocation of the 
available finance –  Kelly Barker

 Reg 44 Visits – report further to a review of the process, 
including establishing whether Members need a DBS 
check prior to undertaking visits – Suzanne Lythgow

11th April 2017

Page 23

Agenda Item 7/



 Education Outcomes- full report further to DfE data 
being received (can be postponed until May/June 2017 if 
appropriate) – Ken Poucher

Items for Inclusion on the Panel’s Work Plan for 2017/18 in due course
(1) UASC’s
(2) Pathways to employment for Care Leavers

2Page 24


	Agenda
	5 RE-THINKING SOCIAL CARE INNOVATION FUND BID
	6 IMPROVING SUPPORT FOR YOUNG PEOPLE IN CARE
	CPP11JanDocMApp

	7 WORK PLAN 2016/17

